



**City of Rochester, NH**  
**Preamble for January 7, 2021**  
**Codes & Ordinances Committee Meeting**

Good Evening, as Chairperson of the Codes and Ordinances Committee, I am declaring that an emergency exists and I am invoking the provisions of RSA 91-A:2, III (b). Federal, state, and local officials have determined that gatherings of 10 or more people pose a substantial risk to our community in its continuing efforts to combat the spread of COVID-19. In concurring with their determination, I also find that this meeting is imperative to the continued operation of City government and services, which are vital to public safety and confidence during this emergency. As such, this meeting will be conducted without a quorum of this body physically present in the same location.

a.) **Public Input:** Due to the ongoing situation with COVID-19, the City of Rochester will be taking extra steps to allow for public input, while still ensuring participant safety and social distancing. In lieu of attending the meeting, those wishing to share comments, when permitted, with the City Council (Public Hearing and/or Workshop settings) are encouraged to do so by the following methods:

- **Mail:** City Clerk/Public Input, 31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH 03867 (*must be received at least three full days prior to the anticipated meeting date*)
- **email** [PublicInput@rochesternh.net](mailto:PublicInput@rochesternh.net) (*must be received no later than 4:00 pm of meeting date*)
- **Voicemail** 603-330-7107 (*must be received no later than 12:00 pm on said meeting date in order to be transcribed*)

Please include with your correspondence the intended meeting date for which you are submitting. *All correspondence will be included with the corresponding meeting packet (Addendum).*

In addition to the above listed public access information, the City Council will be allowing the public to enter Council Chambers and speak in person during the Public Input portion of this meeting. In an effort to adhere to CDC guidelines: enter only at the front Wakefield Street entrance and exit on the side closest to the police department and adhere to 6-foot social distancing while inside. Hand sanitizer and facemasks will be available at the Wakefield Street entrance. Participants will be admitted into Council Chambers one at a time to speak, and will exit directly thereafter. Please note; the seating in Council Chambers will not be available for the public during meetings.

At this time, I also welcome members of the public accessing this meeting by phone. The public can call-in to the below number using the conference code. This meeting will be set to allow the public to "listen-in" only, and there will be no public comment taken via conference line during the meeting.

Phone number: 857-444-0744

Conference code: 843095

b.) **Roll Call:** Please note that all votes that are taken during this meeting shall be done by Roll Call vote.

Let's start the meeting by taking a Roll Call attendance. When each member states their name (and/or ward), also please state whether there is anyone in the room with you during this meeting, which is required under the Right-to-Know law. (Additionally, Council members are required to state their name and ward each time they wish to speak.)

---

*Intentionally  
left blank...*

---

City Clerk's Office

---

---

**Codes and Ordinances Committee**

Councilor Peter Lachapelle, Chair  
Councilor Elaine Lauterborn, Vice Chair  
Councilor Tom Abbott  
Councilor Laura Hainey  
Councilor Christopher Rice



**CODES AND ORDINANCES COMMITTEE**

Of the Rochester City Council

**Thursday, January 7, 2021**

**31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH**

Meeting Conducted Remotely

**6:00 PM**

**Agenda**

1. **Call to Order**
2. **Public Input**
3. **Acceptance of the Minutes**
  - 3.1 **December 3, 2020 *motion to approve* P. 5**
4. **Code of Ordinances Review**
  - 4.1 **Amendment to the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester  
Creating Chapter 41, Disorderly Residence P. 43**
5. **Update: Chapter 80 – Outdoor Dining P. 47**
6. **Other**
7. **Adjournment**

---

*Intentionally  
left blank...*

---

City Clerk's Office

---

---

**Codes and Ordinances Committee**

Councilor Peter Lachapelle, Chair  
Councilor Elaine Lauterborn, Vice Chair  
Councilor Tom Abbott  
Councilor Chris Rice  
Councilor Laura Hainey



**Others Present**

Terence O'Rourke, City Attorney  
Paul Toussaint, Police Chief  
Gary Boudreau, Deputy Police Chief  
Chris Bowlen, Director Recreation & Arena

**CODES AND ORDINANCES COMMITTEE**

Of the Rochester City Council

**Thursday, December 3, 2020**

**31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH**

Meeting conducted remotely

**6:00 PM**

**Minutes**

**1. Call to Order**

Councilor Lachapelle called the Codes & Ordinances meeting to order at 6:00 PM and read the following preamble:

Good Evening, as Chairperson of the Codes & Ordinances Committee I am declaring that an emergency exists and I am invoking the provisions of RSA 91-A:2, III (b). Federal, state, and local officials have determined that gatherings of 10 or more people pose a substantial risk to our community in its continuing efforts to combat the spread of COVID-19. In concurring with their determination, I also find that this meeting is imperative to the continued operation of City government and services, which are vital to public safety and confidence during this emergency. As such, this meeting will be conducted without a quorum of this body physically present in the same location.

a.) **Providing public access to the meeting by telephone:** At this time, I also welcome members of the public accessing this meeting remotely. Even though this meeting is being conducted in a unique manner under unusual circumstances, the usual rules of conduct and decorum apply. Any person found to be disrupting this meeting will be asked to cease the disruption. Should the disruptive behavior continue thereafter, that person will be removed from this meeting. The public can call-in to the below number using the conference code. Some meetings will allow live public input, however you must have pre-registered online, otherwise, the meeting will be set to allow the public to "listen-in" only, and there will be no public comment taken during the meeting. [Public Input Registration](#) (Please note: In order to notify the meeting host that you would like to speak, press 5\* to be recognized and unmuted)

Phone number: 857-444-0744      Conference code: 843095

b.) **Public Access Troubleshooting:** If any member of the public has difficulty accessing the meeting by phone, please email [PublicInput@RochesterNH.net](mailto:PublicInput@RochesterNH.net) or call 603-332-1167.

c.) **Public Input:** Due to the ongoing situation with COVID-19, the City of Rochester will be taking extra steps to allow for public input, while still ensuring participant safety and social distancing. In lieu of attending the meeting, those wishing to share comments, when permitted, with the City Council (Public Hearing and/or Workshop settings) are encouraged to do so by the following methods:

- **Mail:** City Clerk/Public Input, 31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH 03867 (*must be received at least three full days prior to the anticipated meeting date*)
- **email** [PublicInput@rochesternh.net](mailto:PublicInput@rochesternh.net) (*must be received no later than 4:00 pm of meeting date*)
- **Voicemail** 603-330-7107 (*must be received no later than 12:00 pm on said meeting date in order to be transcribed*)

Please include with your correspondence the intended meeting date for which you are submitting. *All correspondence will be included with the corresponding meeting packet (Addendum).*

d.) **Roll Call:** Please note that all votes that are taken during this meeting shall be done by Roll Call vote. Let's start the meeting by taking a Roll Call attendance. When each member states their name (and/or ward), also please state whether there is anyone in the room with you during this meeting, which is required under the Right-to-Know law. (Additionally, Council members are required to state their name and ward each time they wish to speak.)

Deputy City Clerk Cassie Givara took the roll call. The following councilors were present and indicated that they were alone in the location from which they were connecting remotely: Councilors Hainey, Lachapelle, Rice and Lauterborn. Councilor Abbott was absent.

## 2. Public Input

There was no public input received for this meeting.

## 3. Acceptance of the Minutes

### 3.1 October 1, 2020 *motion to approve*

Councilor Lauterborn **MOVED** to **ACCEPT** the minutes of the October 1, 2020 Codes & Ordinances meeting. Councilor Hainey seconded the motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Hainey, Rice, Lauterborn, and Lachapelle voting in favor.

## 4. Code of Ordinances Review

## 4.1 Police Department

### 4.1.1 Chapter 28 – Animals

City Attorney O'Rourke summarized the following suggested amendments (see attached, Addendum A). He clarified that the change in wording for 28.1 regarding salary was changed because the position of Animal Control officer is now a union position. He clarified the suggested changes to wording to reflect that the Animal Control officer is not a full-time certified police officer and will not be making arrests, as well as the addition of the word "domestic" to reflect that the ACO does not pick up deceased animals which are not domesticated.

Councilor Rice asked if the word "domestic" would be defined within the ordinance. Attorney O'Rourke state that the state RSA on animals already defines what is considered a domestic animal. Deputy Chief Boudreau stated that the ACO normally picks up deceased dogs and cats, while larger animals such as deer and moose or wildlife like raccoons will be picked up by the Department of Public works.

Councilor Lauterborn **MOVED** to recommend to the full City Council the suggested amendments to chapter 28. Councilor Rice seconded the motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Hainey, Rice, Lauterborn, and Lachapelle voting in favor.

### 4.1.2 Chapter 149 – Nuisances (*Addendum B*)

Attorney O'Rourke directed the committee to section 149-2 (B) with the addition of verbiage allowing law enforcement personnel to use sound/public address systems, which are prohibited for all others without the proper permitting. Councilor Rice questioned the \$2 fee for obtaining such a permit. Attorney O'Rourke stated that the fee had been in place for quite some time, and discussion on changing or eliminating fees would be done at the Council level. He stated that the Committee could make a recommendation to eliminate the fee. Councilor Lachapelle suggested leaving the fee in place and reviewing all the fees within the ordinances at a later date. Councilor Rice inquired if there was an annual review of all City fees. Attorney O'Rourke answered that there is not currently an annual review, but there is discussion on developing a fee schedule in the future.

Councilor Lauterborn **MOVED** to recommend the amendments suggested by staff in Chapter 149 (Nuisances) to full Council. Councilor Rice seconded the motion. Councilor Rice **AMENDED** the motion to accept City staff changes to chapter 149 and remove the \$2 fee for the permits in chapter 149-2 (B). Councilor Hainey seconded the amended motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** to amend the motion by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Rice, Lachapelle, Hainey, and Councilor Lauterborn voting in favor. The amended **MOTION CARRIED** to accept the suggested changes and remove the \$2 permit fee by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Lauterborn, Lachapelle, Rice, and Hainey all voting in favor.

### 4.1.3 Chapter 167 – Peace and Good Order (*Addendum C*)

Attorney O'Rourke summarized the suggested changes to Chapter 167. The entirety of Article 1 was struck out to reflect current practice and remove outdated terminology.

Councilor Rice **MOVED** to send to full Council the suggested amendments to Chapter 167 (Peace and Good Order). Councilor Lauterborn seconded the motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Lauterborn, Hainey, Lachapelle, and Rice all voting in favor.

#### **4.1.4 Chapter 254 – Vehicles and Traffic (*Addendum D*)**

Attorney O'Rourke directed the Committee to chapter 254-7(b). He summarized the suggested amendments which simplify the wording indicating where skateboarding and rollerblading are prohibited within the City.

Deputy Chief Boudreau explained the changes to chapter 254-12 regarding vehicle weight and stated that the adjusted numbers reflect larger vehicle sizes which could be in residential areas.

Councilor Hainey asked if skateboarding on City sidewalks is an issue and, if so, whether the police officers responding to the incidents educate those responsible on the appropriate locations for these activities. Chief Toussaint reported that the police department does not have many problems with rollerblades, but deal more with issues with bike riders and skateboarders on sidewalks. He stated that this is primarily an issue in the downtown area, and that the police department's primary goal is to educate and get voluntary compliance.

Attorney O'Rourke directed the committee to chapter 254-27 regarding unattended vehicles; the added verbiage is to modernize the ordinance to reflect current technology.

Councilor Rice referenced 254-31 regarding the Columbus Avenue permit parking. He inquired how many permits the City currently has issued for this lot and what the hours are for this lot. Deputy Chief Boudreau stated he did not have the number at hand, but recalled that there were a certain amount of spots within the lot which were used for Service Credit Union employees.

Attorney O'Rourke directed the committee to section 254-59 in regards to contracted towing services used by the City. There has been verbiage added to clarify the process taken when the contracted service does not meet the qualifications and requirements. Councilor Rice read the portion of the amendment which states that the City licensing board can make the final determination in these matters. He asked if there would be an appeal process for the towing services. Councilor Lachapelle referenced a taxi service in Rochester which had their license revoked by the licensing board and had then come to the City Council for an appeal. There was a discussion on the potential difference between the appeal process listed within the ordinance and how such an appeal would happen in current practice. Councilor Rice suggested there needed to be clarification on the process within the ordinance. Chief Toussaint clarified that the passage in question in the ordinance is essentially allowing the police department to discontinue a contract with a particular service; however, this would not disallow the company from operating elsewhere within the City.

Councilor Lauterborn **MOVED** to recommend the amendments to chapter 254 (vehicles and traffic) to the full City Council. Councilor Hainey seconded the motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Hainey, Rice, Lachapelle, and Lauterborn all voting in favor.



## **4.2 Recreation & Arena**

### **4.2.1 Chapter 158 – Parks, Recreation & Arena (*Addendum E*)**

Attorney O'Rourke stated that originally, Recreation and Arena had been referred to as two separate entities. They have since been combined within the ordinances, and although other chapters were updated to reflect this change, this chapter was not. Director Chris Bowlen suggested changing the title to "Recreation and Arena and Parks" to bring the terminology into current use.

Attorney O'Rourke referred to Chapter 158-1 in reference to Permits. The terminology has been updated to reflect that these permits are obtained through View Permit which is the City's permitting software. There are also updates throughout this subsection to indicate that parks and facilities are all operated by the single entity of Recreation and Arena as opposed to separate departments. Councilor Lauterborn inquired if View Permit is the only way to obtain these permits for use of Recreation & Arena properties. Director Bowlen explained the permitting process and said that it can be done on paper as well. It was acknowledged that the suggested change makes it seem like View Permit is the only option. Councilor Hainey questioned the use of the name of the software program within the ordinances, which could be problematic if the City changes vendors down the road. Attorney O'Rourke said that this change was to show that the director of recreation and arena no longer issues permits on his own as in the past, but rather the permits are put into an approval process and queue through the relevant departments using this software. He suggested that the references to the software could be changed to "the City's online permitting portal." Chief Toussaint clarified that View Permit is the internal process which is used by City staff, but the applications could be done on paper. The Committee recommended changing the wording to "the City's permitting process."

Councilor Rice asked if department statistics can be obtained from View Permit for the monthly department reports. Director Bowlen indicated that the program was relatively new to his department, however they can use it to generate statistics of facility use.

Attorney O'Rourke referred to subsection H under Chapter 158-2, which has been struck out in its entirety; this passage is already included in the City's water & sewer ordinances and is redundant in this chapter. He reviewed the suggested change to subsection J in relation to alcohol consumption on City property with the addition of verbiage to include illegal drug usage. Under subsection K in regards to smoking, a strikeout was made to remove the passage indicating a waiver could be given for smoking on particular City properties. Attorney O'Rourke also pointed out the references in the section to "city council" which had been changed to "city manager" to reflect current practice.

Attorney O'Rourke summarized the remaining changes to the chapter which are to reflect current practice and bring the terminology current. Section 158-5 (e) regarding school truancy was struck out in its entirety due to outdated references and the responsibilities covered within the section being handled by the police department as opposed to the recreation and arena.

Councilor Rice referenced the fee schedule within the ordinance and asked if the Director advises the Recreation & Arena Advisory commission. Director Bowlen confirmed that he does advise this commission on fees, although it does go to the City Manager for a final review and

decision. Councilor Rice asked about the prohibition of dogs on the Rochester Common and whether or not there was a dog park in the City. It was confirmed that there is a dog park on Taylor Avenue.

Councilor Lauterborn **MOVED** to recommend the amendments to chapter 158 (Parks, Recreation & Arena) to the full City Council. Councilor Rice seconded the motion. The **MOTION CARRIED** by a unanimous roll call vote with Councilors Rice, Lachapelle, Hainey and Lauterborn all voting in favor.

## **5. Other**

Councilor Lachapelle reported that the next meeting will be held on Thursday, January 7<sup>th</sup> and 6:00 PM. He stated that the next department ordinances to be reviewed are Planning and Department of Public Works. He asked for an update on the outdoor dining ordinance. Attorney O'Rourke said there is a meeting with staff scheduled for the following week in regards to outdoor dining, and they can give an update at the January meeting.

## **6. Adjournment**

Councilor Lachapelle **ADJOURNED** the Codes & Ordinances Committee meeting at 6:54 PM.

Respectfully Submitted,

Cassie Givara  
Deputy City Clerk

Deletions are shown as ~~strike throughs~~ and Additions are in **red**

## Chapter 28 Animals

**[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester 6-6-1995 as § 28.3 and Ch. 29 of the 1995 Code. Amendments noted where applicable.]**

### GENERAL REFERENCES

Parks, recreation and Arena — See Ch. 158.

#### § 28-1 **Animal Control Officer.** **[Amended 8-5-1997]**

The Animal Control Officer shall be appointed by the City Manager in accordance with the provisions of Section 15 of the Rochester City Charter. The Animal Control Officer shall be sworn in by the Chief of Police as the Animal Control Officer. ~~The Animal Control Officer's salary shall be established by the Merit Plan adopted pursuant to Section 60 of the Rochester City Charter.~~

#### § 28-2 **Powers and duties of Animal Control Officer.** **[Amended 11-9-2004]**

The Animal Control Officer shall attend to all complaints pertaining to dogs and other animals, shall investigate and report on all damage caused by dogs and other animals, shall enforce the licensing laws, and shall enforce all other statutes which are violations, ordinances, and regulations pertaining to dogs and other animals. The Animal Control Officer shall pick up and dispose of ~~all~~ dead **domestic** animals found upon public property. The Animal Control Officer shall have the power to issue complaints. ~~and make arrests in the performance of the Animal Control Officer's duties.~~

#### § 28-3 **Dogs running at large.**

- A. No person shall permit any dog to run at large within the City of Rochester, except when such dog is engaged in hunting, herding, supervised competition and exhibition or training for such. This section shall apply to all public places and to all private property. Except as provided for herein, no person shall permit any dog to be out of doors off the owner's property unless said dog is on a leash held by a person able to control the dog.
- B. For the purposes of this section, the term "running at large" shall mean running without the property owned or otherwise controlled by the owner, while not on a leash held by a person able to control the dog.

#### § 28-4 **Nuisances.** **[Added 4-5-2011]**

- A. This section and any penalties established herein are adopted and/or imposed pursuant to the authority granted in RSA 466:39 and 47:17, II and XV.
- B. Under this section, an animal is considered to be a nuisance if: **[Amended 10-1-2019]**
- (1) Any animal or bird causes noise for sustained periods of time more than 15 minutes, or during the night

**Commented [1]:** Note: For state statutes relative to control of dogs, see RSA 466, all provisions of which have been adopted by the City of Rochester, effective November 1980.

hours so as to disturb the peace and quiet of a neighborhood or area, not including a dog which is guarding, working, or herding livestock, as defined in RSA 21:34-a, II(a)(4).

- C. A person who is the owner, keeper, or person in control of an animal found to be a nuisance by reason of conduct contrary to the provisions of Subsection **B** above, and who fails to comply with an order to abate the nuisance caused by such animal, shall be guilty of a violation of this section and, after conviction, such person shall be subject to such penalties as are provided for in this chapter. **[Amended 3-5-2019]**

**§ 28-5 Removal of dog excrement.**  
**[Amended 3-5-2019]**

It shall be unlawful for the owner or person in control of any dog to allow that dog to appear in any public place or upon the property of any other person unless said owner or person in control has in his/her possession a mechanical or other device for the removal of excrement, nor shall said owner or person in control fail to expeditiously remove any such excrement deposited by said dog in any such place. This section shall not apply to a blind person while walking his/her guide dog.

**§ 28-6 Violations and penalties.**  
**[Added 3-5-2019]**

Unless otherwise provided, any person who violates any provision of this chapter shall be punished by a fine of not more than fifty dollars (\$50.)

Deletions are show as ~~strikethroughs~~ and Additions are in red

## Chapter 149

### Nuisances

**[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester 6-6-1995 as §§ 28.1, 28.2 and 28.4 of the 1995 Code. Amendments noted where applicable.]**

#### GENERAL REFERENCES

Adult-oriented establishments — See Ch. 11.

Animals — See Ch. 28.

Building construction and property maintenance — See Ch. 40.

Health and sanitation — See Ch. 94.

Fires and fire safety — See Ch. 75.

Peace and good order — See Ch. 167.

Solid waste — See Ch. 210.

#### § 149-1 **Burning of refuse and garbage.**

The use of outdoor portable incinerators, drums, barrels or other containers for the burning of trash, garbage, or refuse is hereby prohibited within the limits of the City of Rochester. This section shall not be construed, nor is it intended, to exclude the use of outdoor fireplaces or portable charcoal cooking devices designed and used for cooking purposes.

#### § 149-2 **Noise; use of public address system.**

- A. No person, partnership, association, or corporation shall use or operate or cause to be used or operated any mechanical device, machine, apparatus, or instrument for the reproduction, intensification or amplification of the human voice, music, or any sound or noise from any public or private place in such manner that the peace and good order of the neighborhood is disturbed or that persons owning, using or occupying property in the neighborhood are disturbed or annoyed.
- B. No person shall operate any sound or public address system upon the streets, lanes, alleys or sidewalks of the City without first securing a permit for the same from the Chief of Police. Such permit shall state the time, place, nature of the material to be broadcast, and such other details as the Chief of Police shall determine. The fee for such permit shall be two dollars (\$2.). **This section shall not apply to law enforcement officers in performance of their duties.**

#### § 149-3 **Violations and penalties.**

Any person, partnership, association or corporation violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars (\$100.) for each offense unless herein otherwise provided. (For state statute relative to prevention and removal of nuisances, see RSA 147.)

Deletions are show as ~~strikethroughs~~ and Additions are in **red**

# Chapter 167

## Peace and Good Order

**[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester 6-6-1995 as Ch. 24 of the 1995 Code. Amendments noted where applicable.]**

### GENERAL REFERENCES

Adult-oriented establishments — See Ch. 11.

Alarm systems — See Ch. 16.

Amusements and entertainment — See Ch. 22.

Animals — See Ch. 28.

Nuisances — See Ch. 149.

### Article I

#### Observances of Sundays

**[Amended 2-7-2006]**

#### ~~§ 167-1 Activities permissible on Sunday.~~

~~It shall be lawful on Sunday to engage in play, games, sports, and exhibitions of physical skill, provided that peace and quiet are not unreasonably disturbed thereby. The City Council may regulate the time, manner and areas of such play, games and sports, to the end that no unreasonable disturbance of peace and quiet shall be caused thereby.~~

#### ~~§ 167-2 License required.~~

~~No such play, game or sport shall be held without a license therefor from the City Licensing Board, if required.~~

#### ~~§ 167-3 Motion pictures, lectures, concerts and theatricals.~~

~~It shall be lawful on Sunday to conduct motion pictures, lectures, concerts, theatricals and vaudeville performances, provided that no unreasonable disturbance of peace and quiet is caused thereby. The City Council may make regulations controlling such entertainments as do not now require to be licensed, to the end that nothing in this section shall be construed to permit without license any such entertainment now requiring a license.~~

#### ~~§ 167-4 Retail establishments.~~

~~It shall be lawful on Sunday for any retail establishment to be open for business provided that no unreasonable disturbance of peace and quiet is caused thereby.~~

### Article II

#### Miscellaneous Police Regulations

#### § 167-5 Damaging streetlights.

No person shall willfully or mischievously injure in any way any lamppost or streetlight, and no person, except the authorized agents of the lighting company, the City Manager, Chief of Police, Fire Chief, and the

persons acting under their authority, shall in any way interfere with any of said lights.

**§ 167-6 Games and loitering on City parking lots.**

No person, without the permission of the City Manager, shall throw, cast, catch, kick, play with, or strike any game ball whatsoever or engage in any sport, game or competition on any City-owned or -controlled parking lot, nor shall any person loiter in any City-owned or -controlled parking lot.

**§ 167-7 Disturbing funeral processions.**

No person shall willfully interrupt, interfere with, or in any way disturb a funeral assembly or procession.

**§ 167-8 False alarms and tampering with fire alarm apparatus.**

No person shall pull a false alarm, break a fire alarm key box glass or chain, or otherwise tamper with any fire alarm appurtenance or disfigure a fire alarm pole.

**§ 167-9 Possession or consumption of liquor on City property.**

A. No person shall consume any liquor or beverage or possess any open container thereof as defined by RSA 175:1 within the limits of any public land or public building owned or under the control of the City of Rochester except with the written permission of the City Manager, nor shall any person consume any liquor or beverage or possess any open container thereof on any public street, highway, sidewalk, or municipal parking lot within the limits of the City of Rochester.

B. For state statute relative to alcoholic beverages, see RSA 176:11.

**§ 167-10 Consumption of liquor on private property.**

No person shall consume any liquor or beverage as defined by RSA 175:1 within the limits of any privately owned land or within the common area of any privately owned building without the permission of any owner or person in control thereof.

**§ 167-11 Loitering on school property and Hanson Pines Recreation Area.**

No person shall loiter on school property or the Hanson Pines Recreation Area before, during, or after school hours. For purposes of this section and other related sections of this Code, "loitering" shall be as defined in RSA 644:6 as presently enacted or amended in the future.

**§ 167-12 Violations and penalties.**

Any person, partnership, association or corporation violating any of the provisions of this article shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars (\$100.) for each offense unless herein otherwise provided.

### **Article III Use of Air Rifles**

**§ 167-13 Use in compact part of City.**

No person shall, within the compact part of the City of Rochester, fire or discharge an air rifle/pistol. The compact part of the City shall be that part of the City zoned other than agricultural.

**§ 167-14 Violations and penalties.**

Any person violating any provision of this article shall be punished by a fine not to exceed one hundred dollars (\$100.).

### **Article IV Overnight Parking or Camping on City-Owned Property**

**[Added 3-6-2018 (Ch. 45 of the 1995 Code)]**

**§ 167-15 Authority.**

In accordance with and under the authority of New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated 41:11, 41:11-a and 47:17, the City Council of the City of Rochester hereby adopts the following ordinance for the regulation of overnight parking or camping on all City-owned property.

**§ 167-16 Purpose.**

This purpose of this article is to protect the public peace, preserve public law and order, promote safety and welfare and ensure proper and decent conduct for the residents of the City of Rochester and the general public in the use of City-owned properties.

**§ 167-17 Acts prohibited.**

From and after the effective date of this article it shall be unlawful for any person to camp, or to park, with occupancy by one or more persons, any vehicle or recreational vehicle, either overnight or for any two-hour period between dusk and dawn, on any City-owned lands within the City of Rochester.

**§ 167-18 Definitions.**

As used in this article, the following terms have the meanings indicated:

**CAMP**

Includes pitching a tent, placing or erecting any other camping device, or sleeping in or on the City-owned property.

**CITY-OWNED PROPERTY**

All properties owned by the City of Rochester.

**RECREATIONAL VEHICLE**

Any vehicle fitting the definition in RSA 216-I:1, VIII.

**§ 167-19 Exceptions.**

Restrictions in this article shall not apply:

- A. When permission has been granted by the Chief of Police or designee for official or emergency purposes.
- B. When permission has been granted by the City Manager or Chief of Police in conjunction with a performance at the Rochester Opera House or with a written special event permit.

**§ 167-20 Responsibility.**

All violations of parking restrictions and charges accompanied therewith shall be deemed the responsibility of the registered owner of said vehicle. Such registrations may be proven as set forth in RSA 261:60. Said registered owner shall be conclusively presumed to be in control of the vehicle at the time of the parking violation, and no evidence of actual control or culpability needs to be proven as an element of the offense in accordance with RSA 231:132-a.

**§ 167-21 Removal of vehicle.**

Any vehicle parked in violation of this article may be ordered towed by the Rochester Police Department at the expense of the owner or custodian of said vehicle.

**§ 167-22 Violations and penalties.**

- A. Any person who violates this article shall be guilty of a violation and shall be fined one hundred dollars (\$100.).



- B. Any duly appointed police officer for the City of Rochester may enforce this article by utilizing any process authorized by state law, including but not limited to a local ordinance citation pursuant to RSA 31:39-d and Chapter 54, Citations, of the City of Rochester Code.
- C. All penalties collected for violations of this article shall be for the use of the City and deposited into the City's general fund.

**§ 167-23 Severability.**

The provisions of this article are declared to be severable, and if any section, subsection, sentence, clause or part thereof is, for any reason, held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or parts of this article.

## **Article V Drop-off Bins**

**[Added 10-1-2019]**

**§ 167-24 Definitions.**

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

**CODE OFFICIAL**

The Director of Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services, the Code Compliance Officer or any duly authorized representative who is charged with the administration and enforcement of this chapter.

**DROP-OFF BIN**

Any receptacle or container located outside of an enclosed building and designed, intended or used for collection and temporary storage of donated items or materials, including, but not limited to, clothing, shoes, books, toys, furniture, household materials and other like items. Drop-off bins are also known as donation collection bins/boxes, charity bins/boxes, clothing bins/boxes, clothing donation containers, or any combination thereof.

**OWNER**

A person, association, corporation, partnership, or other legal entity having a legal or equitable title in real property.

**PREMISES**

A lot, plot or parcel of land, including any structures thereon.

**STRUCTURE**

That which is built or constructed or a portion thereof.

**§ 167-25 Licenses and permits requirements.**

Whether for the owner of the premises or the person who has obtained the written permission of the owner, the fee to obtain the initial license to own, install, operate, or use a drop-off bin is twenty-five dollars (\$25.), which must be tendered at the time of license application. Such license may be annually renewed on or before the anniversary date of the application for an annual renewal fee of twenty-five dollars (\$25.). Regardless of the number of drop-off bins owned, installed, operated, or used by a license applicant, the applicant shall only pay one annual license fee. The initial permit fee for a drop-off bin is ten dollars (\$10.)

per bin, payable at the time of application for the license. The annual renewal fee for each drop-off bin permit is ten dollars (\$10.), payable on or before the anniversary date of the initial application. Each drop-off bin shall display its current permit at all times.

**§ 167-26 Company type and bin labels.**

To best inform the public and potential donors, bins shall be labeled according to company type as follows:

- A. Shall have a label or appended sign that states "PLEASE REPORT ANY OVERFLOW OF ITEMS, DAMAGE, OR MALFUNCTION TO [PERMIT HOLDER'S NAME] AT [PERMIT HOLDER'S TELEPHONE NUMBER] OR TO THE DIRECTOR OF BUILDING, ZONING, AND LICENSING SERVICES AT [TELEPHONE NUMBER DESIGNATED BY DIRECTOR]." Such label or appended sign shall be in lettering no less than three inches in height and no less than one-half inch in width; and
- B. If none of the proceeds from the sale of the items collected in the drop-off bin will be given to a "charitable organization," as that term is defined in RSA 72:23-1, there shall be a label or sign permanently attached to the drop-off bin which identifies the permit holder's name and address and states: "DONATIONS ARE NOT FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES AND WILL BE SOLD FOR PROFIT. DONATIONS ARE NOT TAX DEDUCTIBLE." Said label or appended sign shall be prominently displayed on the receptacle in the largest lettering on the receptacle or appended sign, but said lettering shall be no less than three inches in height and no less than one-half inch in width; or
- C. If 100% of the items, or the proceeds from the sale of the items, collected in the drop-off bin will be used for the benefit of a "charitable organization," as that term is defined in RSA 72:23-1, there shall be a label or sign permanently attached to the drop-off bin that identifies, at least, the legal name of the charitable organization receiving the benefit of the donated items, as it appears on the certificate of registration issued to the charitable organization by the New Hampshire Attorney General's Charitable Trust Unit in the largest lettering on the drop-off bin or appended sign, but said lettering shall be no less than three inches in height and no less than one-half inch in width; or
- D. If a professional solicitor owns, installs, operates, or uses a drop-off bin pursuant to a contractual arrangement with a charitable organization whereby the professional solicitor receives either a flat fee or a percentage of the proceeds from the sale of the donated items, have a label or sign permanently attached to the drop-off bin which states: "SOLICITATIONS FOR DONATIONS ARE MADE BY (NAME OF PROFESSIONAL SOLICITOR) ON BEHALF OF (NAME OF CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION). DONATIONS WILL BE SOLD FOR PROFIT BY (NAME OF PROFESSIONAL SOLICITOR)." Said label or appended sign shall be prominently displayed on the donation drop-off bin in the largest lettering thereon, but said lettering shall be no less than three inches in height and not less than one-half inch in width; and
- E. Shall be placed only on premises commercially used by an established business or on church property, and drop-off bins shall not be permitted in any Residential Zone or in the Downtown Commercial Zone.

**§ 167-27 Application requirements: company licenses and bin permits.**

Any party seeking to obtain the requisite license to operate drop-off bins and permits for each drop-off bin shall submit a written application to the Director of BZLS upon a form provided by the Director. The application shall require the following information:

- A. The name, physical address (no PO boxes), telephone number, and electronic mail address of the

applicant; and

- B. A photograph of the drop-off bin and the proposed location for which a permit is sought. If the application is for more than one location, the applicant may submit a single application with a list of preferred locations and only one photograph of the type of drop-off bin to be used unless different types of bins will be used at different locations. In the event the applicant is using different types of bins at different locations, a photograph of each type of bin must be submitted; and
- C. Whether the applicant would prefer to receive notice and orders by regular mail or electronic mail; and
- D. The signature of the applicant; and
- E. The required license and permit fees; and
- F. If placed on property not owned or leased by the operator of the drop-off bin, a written agreement with the owner of each premises where a bin is to be located which evidences the agreement of the owner(s) to the placement of a drop-off bin on the property. The applicant shall also provide a certificate of liability insurance in an amount not less than \$500,000 showing each owner of the premises where a bin is located as an additional insured; and
- G. A maintenance agreement on the form provided from the Director wherein the applicant affirms that each drop-off bin location will be monitored on a daily basis, emptied no less than twice every calendar week, except in the event of a declared weather emergency by the National Weather Service or other natural disaster, and no overflow of items from the bin shall remain on the ground for more than 24 hours after actual or constructive notice of said overflow.
- H. The information supplied pursuant to this section shall be used for all notices, correspondence, or communications from the Director.
- I. Currently operated drop-off bins do not enjoy grandfathered status and must comply with all the requirements of this article.

**§ 167-28 Bin placement.**

- A. Drop-off bin(s) shall be located on a hard and durable surface such as asphalt, concrete, aggregate, crushed rock and the like, and all ingress and egress from each bin shall also be of a similar surface. In no event shall the placement of a drop-off bin or any means of ingress or egress be composed of sod, dirt, sand, or similar porous material. All drop-off bins shall be located on the designated premises so as not to interfere with sight triangles, on-site circulation of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, required setbacks, parking, landscaping, and all other applicable requirements imposed on the property as part of any governmental approval, including any zoning requirement;
- B. The placement of drop-off bins shall be restricted to an area within 75 feet from any wall of the largest permanent building on the premises or against a well-lit exterior wall of such building;
- C. A drop-off bin shall not be within a 1,000-foot radius of any other drop-off bin operated by the same licensee;
- D. Drop-off bins shall not be larger than six feet high by six feet wide by five feet deep;

- E. Drop-off bins shall be enclosed and operate by use of a securely locked receiving door so that the contents of the bin may not be accessed by anyone other than those persons authorized by the licensee to collect the contents.

§ 167-29 **Bin maintenance.**

- A. The drop-off bin must be regularly emptied, no less than twice every calendar week, to prevent overflow of clothing or other items that may be strewn about the premises. No overflow of items from a bin shall remain on the ground for more than 24 hours after actual or constructive notice of said overflow;
- B. Any person found illegally dumping at a drop-off bin shall be guilty of a misdemeanor pursuant to RSA 163-B:3 and will be subject to the penalties set forth in RSA 163-B:4.
- C. Any graffiti placed on the drop-off bin must be removed within 72 hours following notice of its existence. However, within the 72 hours, the owner has the option to notify the Director in writing of the owner's intent to replace the drop-off bin within five days and along with said written notice submits a photograph of the new drop-off bin.
- D. If a drop-off bin is damaged to the extent the locking mechanism or receiving door has been compromised or one of its sides has been breached, it shall be repaired, replaced or removed within five days of receipt after notice of such damage from the Director unless the Director determines the damage is such that the drop-off bin constitutes a danger to persons or property, in which case it shall be made safe or removed within 24 hours of notice of said condition.

§ 167-30 **Violations.**

Any violation of the provisions of this article or any order of the Director or the Code Compliance Officer related thereto are subject to citation and the civil penalties set forth in RSA 47:17 and Code § 54-3.

Deletions are show as ~~strike throughs~~ and Additions are in red

## Chapter 254 Vehicles and Traffic

[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester 6-6-1995 as Ch. 60 to Ch. 66 of the 1995 Code.  
Amendments noted where applicable.]

### Article I Definitions

#### § 254-1 Definitions.

As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

#### ABANDONED VEHICLE

For the purposes of this chapter only, an abandoned vehicle is one that is parked in violation of any provisions of this chapter for a period of time greater than 24 hours.

#### CROSSWALK

- A. That portion of the roadway ordinarily included within the prolongation or connection of the lateral lines of sidewalks at intersections.
- B. Any portion of the roadway distinctly indicated for pedestrian crossing by lines or other markings on the surface.

#### DISTRICTS

- A. **BUSINESS DISTRICT**The territory contiguous to a highway when 50% or more of the frontage thereon for a distance of 300 feet or more is mainly occupied by dwellings or by dwellings and buildings in use for business.
- B. **URBAN RESIDENCE DISTRICT**The territory contiguous to a highway not comprising a business district when the frontage on such highway for a distance of 300 feet or more is mainly occupied by dwellings or by dwellings and buildings in use for business.
- C. **RURAL RESIDENCE DISTRICT**The territory contiguous to a highway not comprising a business or urban residence district when the frontage on such highway for a distance of 1/2 mile or more is mainly occupied by dwellings or by dwellings and buildings in use for business on any one side.

#### FIRE LANE

The portion of a traveled way established on private property devoted to public use, where the parking of motor vehicles or other obstructions may interfere with the ingress and egress of Fire Department or other emergency vehicles for the protection of persons and property, such as at shopping centers, bowling lanes, theaters, hospitals, churches and similar locations.

#### INTERSECTION

The area bounded by the prolongation of the lateral curblines or the lateral boundary lines of two highways.

#### **OFFICIAL TIME**

Time designated herein shall be standard or daylight, whichever shall be in force.

#### **PERSON, DRIVER and PEDESTRIAN**

- A. **PERSON** Every natural person, firm, partnership, association or corporation.
- B. **DRIVER** Every person who drives or is in physical control of a vehicle.
- C. **PEDESTRIAN** A person on foot.

#### **POLICE OFFICER**

An officer of the Municipal Police Department or any person authorized to direct or regulate traffic or to make arrests for violations of traffic regulations.

[Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]

#### **RAILROADS**

- A. **RAILROAD** A carrier of persons or property upon cars operated upon stationary rails.
- B. **RAILROAD TRAIN** A steam engine, electric, diesel or other motor, with or without cars coupled thereto, operated upon rails.

#### **RIGHT-OF-WAY**

The privilege of the immediate use of the road.

#### **SAFETY ZONE**

The area or space officially set apart within a roadway for the exclusive use of pedestrians and which is protected or is so marked or indicated by adequate signs as to be plainly visible at all times while set apart as a safety zone.

#### **TRAFFIC**

Pedestrians, draft animals, cattle, sheep, goats, vehicles and other conveyances while using the street for the purpose of travel.

#### **TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES**

- A. All signs, signals, markings and devices not inconsistent with these regulations erected pursuant to competent authority for the purpose of regulating, warning or guiding traffic.
- B. Traffic signals, mechanically or electrically operated, by which traffic is alternatively directed to stop and proceed, erected pursuant to competent authority.

#### **TRAFFIC MOVEMENTS**

- A. **STOP** When required, means complete cessation of movement.

- B. **STOP or STOPPING**When prohibited, means any stopping of a vehicle except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic or in compliance with the direction of a police officer or traffic control sign or signal.
- C. **STANDING**Any stopped vehicle, whether occupied or not.
- D. **PARK**The standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in loading or unloading.
- E. **TURN**— The turning of a vehicle from its original direction to the opposite direction; the turning from one side of the street to the other for the purpose of parking.
- F. **YIELD RIGHT-OF-WAY**When required, means slowing down, stopping if necessary, to allow vehicles using the street being approached to have the right-of-way.

#### **TRAVELED WAYS**

- A. **STREET or HIGHWAY**The entire width between boundary lines of every way or place of whatever nature used by the members of the public for the purpose of vehicular traffic.
- B. **PRIVATE ROAD or DRIVEWAY**Every way or place in private ownership and used for vehicular traffic by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner.
- C. **ROADWAY**That portion of the street improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular traffic.
- D. **CURB**The lateral boundaries of that portion of the street improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular travel whether defined by a curbstone or not.
- E. **SIDEWALK**That portion of the street between the curblines and adjacent property lines intended for pedestrian use.
- F. **ALLEY**A public, narrow passage or way between buildings within the compact area of the City.
- G. **PARKING LOT**Every parking area in public or private ownership used for parking of motor vehicles by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner.

#### **VEHICLES**

- A. **VEHICLE**Every device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported or drawn upon a highway, except devices moved by human power or used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks.
- B. **MOTOR VEHICLE**Every vehicle that is self-propelled.
- C. **AUTHORIZED EMERGENCY VEHICLES**Fire and Police Department vehicles and such other vehicles as are designated as such by the Director of the Division of Motor Vehicles or the City Council of Rochester, New Hampshire.

## **WEEKDAY**

For the purposes of Article **III** only, weekday shall mean Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday and Saturday.

## **Article II Operation of Motor Vehicles**

### **§ 254-2 One-way streets.**

Vehicular traffic shall move only in the indicated direction when signs indicating the direction of traffic are erected and maintained at every intersection where movement in the opposite direction is prohibited.

### **§ 254-3 Driving through and passing processions.**

No driver of a vehicle shall drive between the vehicles comprising a funeral or other procession in motion or pass any such procession unless so directed by a person in charge of said procession or a police officer.

### **§ 254-4 Funeral or other processions.**

- A. A funeral composed of a procession of vehicles shall be identified as such by the display upon the outside of each vehicle of a pennant of a type approved by the Chief of Police.
- B. Each driver in a funeral or other procession shall drive as near to the right-hand side of the roadway as practical and follow the vehicle ahead as close as is practical and safe.
- C. No person shall willfully interrupt, interfere, or in any way disturb a funeral assembly or procession.

### **§ 254-5 U-turn prohibited on designated streets.**

The driver of a vehicle shall not make a U-turn upon any street when a sign is posted indicating no U-turn is allowed and shall not make a U-turn on any other street unless such movement can be made in safety and without interfering with other traffic.

### **§ 254-6 Limitations on backing and movement from parked position.**

- A. The driver of a vehicle shall not back the same into an intersection.
- B. The driver of a vehicle shall not back over a crosswalk except where such crosswalk is immediately adjacent to authorized parking areas and then only when such movement can be made in safety and without interfering with pedestrian traffic.

### **§ 254-7 Use of bicycles, roller blades, roller skates and skateboards.**

- A. All bicycles shall be ridden in accordance with the New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated.
- B. Roller blades, roller skates, and skateboards are prohibited on **all City-owned** sidewalks, ~~parks, and parking lots of the main downtown area and the central business districts of Gonic and East Rochester.~~  
~~The Chief of Police shall establish and publish the boundaries of each such central business district.~~

### **§ 254-8 Unnecessary noise.**

No person shall operate any vehicle on any traveled way so as to make any loud, unusual or other unnecessary noise as hereinafter defined.

### **§ 254-9 Misuse of power.**

No person shall operate any vehicle on any traveled way so as to misuse the power of that vehicle as hereinafter defined.



**§ 254-10 Definitions.**

The words "loud, unusual, or other unnecessary noise" or "misuse of power" whenever used in this article shall include any noise or misuse of power occasioned by any one or more of the following actions of the operator of any vehicle:

- A. Misuse of power: exceeding tire traction limits in acceleration, sometimes known as "laying down rubber," "peeling rubber" or "fishtailing";
- B. Misuse of braking power exceeding tire traction limits in deceleration where there is no emergency;
- C. Rapid acceleration by means of quick shifting of transmission gears with either a clutch and manual transmission or automatic transmission;
- D. Rapid deceleration by means of quick downshifting of transmission gears with either a clutch and manual transmission or automatic transmission;
- E. Racing of engines by manipulation of the accelerator, gas pedal, carburetor, or gear selector, whether the vehicle is either in motion or standing still; or
- F. The blowing of any horn except as a warning signal or the use of any siren or any other noise-making device, whether the vehicle is either in motion or standing still; provided, however, that the use of a siren or other device on an emergency vehicle shall not be construed as a violation of this chapter.

**§ 254-11 Motor vehicles on park, recreation area and school property.**

The use of all motor vehicles, including but not limited to motorcycles and off-road vehicles, is prohibited on City parks, recreation areas, and all school property except for designated parking lots unless special permission has been granted by the City Manager for organized activities.

**§ 254-12 Commercial vehicle and truck travel restricted.  
[Amended 4-7-1998]**

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, including any applicable vehicle weight limitations and/or restrictions upon any classification of vehicles recognized by the State and/or Federal Department of Transportation or Interstate Commerce Commission, streets or parts of streets shall be restricted to vehicles complying with such vehicular weight limitations and/or restrictions; provided, however, that if signs are erected restricting a street, or part thereof, with a sign stating merely "No Through Truck Traffic," or similar designation, without further elaboration, then such street, or part of such street, shall be restricted to pleasure vehicles only with a gross vehicle weight under ~~6,000~~ 10,000 pounds. All commercial vehicles, including but not limited to trucks, failing to comply with such vehicular weight limitations or restrictions are expressly prohibited from using such streets. These restrictions shall not apply to vehicles making deliveries to residences or businesses on said streets, to City-owned vehicles, or to drivers traveling to their own residences on said street. Drivers traveling to their own residences shall not park said vehicles on any portion of the City street or right-of-way.

**Article III  
Stopping, Standing and Parking**

**§ 254-13 Parking prohibited in certain places.**

No person shall park any vehicle upon a street or alley in such a manner or under such conditions as to leave available less than 12 feet of the width of the roadway for free movement of vehicular traffic.

**§ 254-14 Winter all-night parking prohibited.**  
**[Amended 12-6-2005]**

- A. Between November 1 and May 1 no person shall park any vehicle in any municipal parking lot or on any public street when a snow emergency has been declared by the City of Rochester Commissioner of Public Works or his/her designee. In declaring a snow emergency, the City shall notify the local media and use other means that may be appropriate to alert the public not less than six hours prior to such emergency taking effect. When called, such emergency shall remain in force until such time as declared by the Commissioner or his/her designee.
- B. The Police Chief, after consultation with the Commissioner of Public Works, may grant specific exceptions to Subsection A above in designated areas of any municipal parking lot or on any particular public street when a snow emergency has been declared.

**§ 254-15 City-owned parking lots.**  
**[Amended 12-6-2005]**

There shall be free parking in marked areas in all City-owned parking lots. Any vehicle left for a period of 24 hours or more shall be towed to a public garage for storage at the owner's risk and expense. It shall be unlawful to park or leave standing any motor vehicle in an unmarked area of any municipal parking lot for any purpose except loading or unloading.

**§ 254-16 Parking prohibited during certain hours in designated places.**

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle between the hours designated thereon, on any day, upon any street so marked by signs.

**§ 254-17 Parking time limited in designated places.**

- A. When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle for longer than the time stated on such signs.
- B. The application of time restrictions as described in the foregoing subsection shall mean that no driver of a vehicle shall be permitted to park within any one limited area for more than the time allowed in that area, on any one day, whether such time is used in a single period of parking or accumulated in two or more periods.
- C. Exception. The Chief of Police may permit plumbers, electricians or other contractors to park or leave standing vehicles in front of buildings for a longer period of time than is provided for in this chapter provided it is essential for the work being carried on in said building.

**§ 254-18 Bus and taxicab stands.**

- A. The driver of a bus or taxicab shall not park upon any street at any place other than a bus stop or taxicab stand, respectively, for the purpose of inviting or soliciting business or while in the act of inviting or soliciting business.
- B. No person shall park a vehicle other than a bus in a bus stand, or other than a taxicab in a taxicab stand, when such stand has been officially designated.

**§ 254-19 Unlawful parking.**

No person shall park a vehicle upon any roadway for the principal purpose of:

A. Displaying it for sale.

B. Washing, greasing, or repairing such vehicle except repairs of an emergency nature.

**§ 254-20 Using vehicles for primary purpose of advertising.**

No person shall park on any street a vehicle for the primary purpose of advertising, except upon written permit from the Chief of Police.

**§ 254-21 Emergency restrictions on parking.**

The Chief of Police may restrict or prohibit parking or travel on any public street whenever the ordinary uses of the same become hazardous because of snow accumulation, existence of some emergency condition, or to facilitate the removal of snow or other hazards. Said restriction or prohibition shall be effective when suitable signs have been erected at intervals of not more than 100 feet.

**§ 254-22 Fire lanes.**

When signs are erected and the road surface is clearly marked giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any way marked as a fire lane.

**§ 254-23 Loading zones.**

The Chief of Police may establish loading and unloading zones which shall be marked by appropriate signs. It shall be unlawful for the owner of any vehicle or any person having custody of any vehicle to park said vehicle or permit the same to be parked in any zone designated as a loading zone unless actually engaged in loading or unloading.

**§ 254-24 Parking within lines.**

All parking of motor vehicles upon City streets or parking lots shall be within the marks placed upon the streets which indicate the place and manner for parking.

**§ 254-25 Stopping, standing or parking prohibited in specified places.**

Except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic, or in compliance with law or the directions of a police officer or official traffic control device, no person, except a person driving an emergency vehicle, shall:

A. Stop, stand or park a vehicle:

- (1) On a roadway side of any vehicle stopped or parked at the edge or curb of a street.
- (2) On a sidewalk.
- (3) Within an intersection.
- (4) On a crosswalk.
- (5) Alongside or opposite any street excavation or obstruction when stopping, standing or parking would obstruct traffic.
- (6) Upon any bridge or other elevated structure upon a way or within a highway tunnel.
- (7) On any railroad tracks.
- (8) At any place where official signs prohibit stopping.

(9) In any parking place, whether on public or private property, specially designated for a person with a walking disability by means of a sign as required by RSA 265:73-a stating that the space is reserved for a person with a walking disability or displaying the international accessibility symbol, unless that person has special number plates, decals, or a card issued pursuant to RSA 261:86, 261:87, or 261:88, or a similar license plate, decal, or card issued by another state or country displaying the international accessibility symbol and the person who qualifies for the plate, decal, or card is being transported to or from the parking place.

(10) On any controlled access highway.

(11) In the area between roadways of a divided highway, including crossovers.

B. Stand or park a vehicle, whether occupied or not, except momentarily to pick up or discharge a passenger or passengers:

(1) In front of a public or private driveway.

(2) Within 15 feet of a fire hydrant.

(3) Within 30 feet upon the approach to any flashing signal, stop sign, or traffic control signal located at the side of a roadway.

(4) Within 20 feet of the driveway entrance to any fire station and on the side of a street opposite the entrance to any fire station within 75 feet of said entrance when properly signposted.

(5) At any place where official signs prohibit standing.

C. Park a vehicle, whether occupied or not, except temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in loading or unloading merchandise or passengers:

(1) At any place where official signs prohibit parking. No person shall move a vehicle not lawfully under his/her control into any such prohibited area or away from a curb such a distance as is unlawful.

**§ 254-26 Stopping, standing or parking outside business or residence districts.**

A. Upon any way outside of a business or residence district no person shall stop, park or leave standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, upon the paved or main traveled part of the way when it is practicable to stop, park or leave such vehicle off such part of said way, but in every event an unobstructed width of the way opposite a standing vehicle shall be left for the free passage of other vehicles and clear view of such stopped vehicles shall be available from a distance of 200 feet in each direction upon such way.

B. This section shall not apply to the driver of any vehicle which is disabled while on the paved or main traveled portion of a way in such manner and to such extent that it is impossible to avoid stopping and temporarily leaving such disabled vehicle in such position.

**§ 254-27 Unattended vehicle.**

No person driving or in charge of a vehicle shall permit it to stand unattended without first stopping the engine, locking the ignition, removing the key, and effectively setting the brake thereon and, when standing

upon any grade, turning the front wheels to the curb of the way. Unless a vehicle has been started by remote control car starter, the doors shall remain locked until the operator is at the vehicle.

**§ 254-28 Additional parking regulations.**

- A. Except as otherwise provided in this section, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a roadway where there are adjacent curbs shall be so stopped or parked with the right-hand wheels of such vehicle parallel to the right-hand curb, or, if upon a roadway where there are no curbs, said vehicle shall be so stopped or parked with the right-hand wheels of such vehicle parallel to the right-hand side of the traveled portion of the way.
- B. Except when otherwise provided by local ordinance, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a one-way roadway shall be so stopped or parked parallel to the curb or edge of the roadway, in the direction of authorized traffic movement, with its right-hand wheels within 12 inches of the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway, or its left-hand wheels within 12 inches of the left-hand curb or edge of the roadway.
- C. The City Council may by ordinance permit angle parking on any roadway, except that angle parking shall not be permitted on any federal aid or state way unless authorized by the Commissioner of Transportation.

**§ 254-29 Free parking for disabled persons and for official purposes.**

Any motor vehicle carrying special number plates issued to paraplegic, amputee, or blind war veterans pursuant to RSA 261:86 and 261:87, and any motor vehicle used for a purpose, or by a person, designated by a City Council or town meeting, shall be allowed free parking time in the City of Rochester so long as said motor vehicle is under the direct control of the owner. The provisions of this section shall apply to a veteran who suffers a disability incurred in or aggravated by such service, upon satisfactory proof that the veteran has been evaluated by the United States Veterans Administration to be permanently and totally disabled from such service-connected disability.

**§ 254-30 Yeagley Way student parking.**  
**[Amended 9-2-1997; 6-5-2001]**

Thirty-five marked parking spaces shall be designated for student parking only on Yeagley Way between Wakefield Street and the Technology Center. During normal school hours when school is in session, the Rochester School Department shall have full authority to control said 35 spaces which shall be subject to the requirements of the School Department's permit and enforcement system.

**§ 254-31 Columbus Avenue parking lot permit parking.**  
**[Amended 4-2-2002]**

The parking lot constructed along Columbus Avenue beginning near its intersection with Winter Street and extending to, and abutting, Lot 319 on Rochester Tax Map 120 is intended, in part, to facilitate the effective use of Lot 1 on Rochester Tax Map 125. This lot, in whole or in part, as recommended by the Chief of Police and with the approval of the City Manager, shall be designated "Permit Parking Only" during certain designated hours and on certain designated days. When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person without an authorized permit shall park in any parking space designated for "Permit Parking Only" during the hours and/or on the days indicated on such signs. Except with respect to spaces designated for "Permit Parking Only" the use of this parking lot shall be governed by the provisions of § 254-15 hereof.

## Article IV Rights and Duties of Pedestrians

### § 254-32 **Pedestrians crossing street in urban area.**

No person shall cross any street in the urban area of the City at any point other than a marked crosswalk.

## Article V Enforcement

### § 254-33 **Duty of Police Department.**

It shall be the duty of the Police Department of this City to enforce the provisions of these regulations. Officers of the Police Department are hereby authorized to direct all traffic either in person or by means of visible or audible signals in conformance with these regulations, provided that in the event of fire or other emergency or to expedite traffic or safeguard pedestrians, officers of the Police Department may direct traffic, as conditions may require, notwithstanding the provisions of these regulations.

### § 254-34 **Required obedience to traffic regulations.**

It is a violation for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required by these regulations.

### § 254-35 **Obedience to police.**

No person shall fail or refuse to comply with any lawful order or direction of a police officer.

### § 254-36 **Public employees to obey traffic regulations.**

The provisions of these regulations shall apply to the driver of any vehicle owned or used by the United States Government, the State of New Hampshire, or any political subdivision of said state and it shall be unlawful for any said driver to violate any of the provisions of these regulations, except as otherwise permitted by law or these regulations.

### § 254-37 **Exemption of authorized emergency vehicles.**

A. The provisions of these regulations governing the operation, parking and standing of a vehicle shall apply to authorized emergency vehicles as defined in these regulations except as follows: a driver when operating such vehicle in an emergency, except when otherwise directed by a police officer, may:

- (1) Park or stand notwithstanding the provisions of these regulations.
  - (2) Proceed past a red stop signal or stop sign, but only after slowing down as may be necessary for safe operation.
  - (3) Disregard regulations governing direction of movement or turning in specific directions so long as persons and property are not thereby endangered.
- B. The foregoing exemptions shall not protect the driver of any such vehicle from the consequence of disregard for the safety of others.

### § 254-38 **Persons subject to traffic regulations.**

Every person propelling a push cart or riding a bicycle or any animal upon a roadway and every person driving an animal-drawn vehicle shall be subject to the provisions of these regulations whenever applicable.

**Commented [1]:** Editor's Note: Original § 63.2, The passing of items to or from the occupant of a motor vehicle on a roadway, added 9-1-2015 and amended 6-7-2016, which immediately followed this section, was repealed 3-6-2018.

## Article VI Penalties

### § 254-39 Violations and penalties. [Amended 5-1-2007; 3-5-2019]

Except as otherwise provided herein, a person violating any provision of Articles **I** through **VIII** of this chapter shall be punished by a fine of not more than two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.) for each offense, except that the optional procedures set forth in § **254-42** may be used in lieu of court proceedings for violations of Article **III**.

### § 254-40 Owner responsibility for illegal parking.

A person shall not allow, permit or suffer a vehicle registered in his/her name to stand or park in violation of any of the ordinances of this City controlling the standing or parking of vehicles, and the owner or person in whose name such vehicle is registered shall be held as prima facie responsible for such violation.

### § 254-41 Notice of violation.

A police officer observing a violation of any of the provisions of Article **III** shall attach to the vehicle a notice to the operator or owner that the vehicle has been parked in violation of Article **III** and instructing the operator or owner to report at police headquarters. The notice shall contain:

- A. Location. The location where the vehicle is parked.
- B. Registration number of vehicle. The state registration number of such vehicle.
- C. Time of violation. The time at which such vehicle is parked in violation of any of the provisions of these ordinances.
- D. Any other facts. Any other facts, a knowledge of which is necessary to a thorough understanding of the circumstances attending such violation.

### § 254-42 Procedure in paying penalties. [Amended 5-1-2007]

- A. The operator or owner may, within 10 working days of the time when a notice of violation of Article **III** was attached to the vehicle, pay to the Police Department the sum of fifteen dollars (\$15.) as a penalty and in lieu of court proceedings. Failure by the operator or owner to make such payment within 10 working days may result in the issuance of a summons to the operator or owner to appear in court to answer to charges of violating Article **III**. The Chief of Police may authorize, at any time before a court summons has been issued, but after the expiration of the ten-working-day period, the acceptance of a voluntary payment of twenty-five dollars (\$25.) as a penalty in full satisfaction of the violation.
- B. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection **A** of this section, an operator or owner of a vehicle to which a notice of violation of the provisions of § **254-29** was attached may, within five working days of the time when the notice of violation of said § **254-29** was attached to the vehicle, pay to the Police Department the sum of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.) as a penalty and in lieu of court proceedings. Failure by the operator or owner to make such payment within five working days may result in the issuance of a summons to the operator or owner to appear in court to answer to the charges of violation of § **254-29**. The Chief of Police may authorize at any time before a court summons has been issued, but after the expiration of the five-working-day period, the acceptance of a voluntary payment of two

hundred sixty dollars (\$260.) as a penalty in full satisfaction of the violation.

**§ 254-43 Towing vehicles.**

The Police Department is authorized to remove and tow away or have removed and towed away by commercial towing service any abandoned vehicle, or other vehicle illegally parked in a place where it creates or constitutes a traffic hazard, blocks the use of a fire hydrant, or obstructs or may obstruct snow removal operations or the movement of any emergency vehicle. Vehicles towed for illegal parking shall be stored in a safe place and shall be restored to the owner or operator upon payment of all fees for towing and storage.

**Article VII  
Taxicabs**

**§ 254-44 Declaration of policy.**

Every person owning or operating a motor vehicle who secures or accepts passengers for hire on the public streets, or in public places, shall be deemed to be operating a taxicab and shall be subject to City regulations in accordance with this article.

**§ 254-45 Definitions.**

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

**DRIVER**

The person in actual physical control of a taxicab.

**OPERATOR**

Any person owning, in charge of, or managing a taxicab business or company in the City.

**TAXICAB**

Any rubber-tired motor vehicle having a manufacturer's rated seating capacity of not more than seven persons, used in the call and demand transportation of passengers for compensation to or from points chosen or designated by the passengers and not operated on a fixed schedule between fixed termini, or any such vehicle leased or rented, or held for leasing or renting, with or without drivers or operators.

**UNENGAGED TAXICAB**

A taxicab in the charge of a driver and neither occupied by nor standing at the direction of a passenger nor responding to a call of a prospective passenger. A taxicab standing in a taxi stand shall be presumed to be unengaged.

**§ 254-46 Taxicab operator permit and fee.**

Every person engaged in the business of operating taxicabs, automobiles or other vehicles for the transportation of persons for hire shall make an application to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department for an operator's permit on forms provided by the City for this purpose. The fee for such permit shall be one hundred dollars (\$100.) annually which shall be paid at the time the application is made, and on or before January 1 of each calendar year thereafter. Only one operator permit shall be required per business.

- A. Issuance of business operator's permit. All permits must be approved by the Licensing Board. Before any permit is issued, the Chief of Police shall conduct an investigation of the applicant, including, but not necessarily limited to, a criminal history records check to be conducted by the New Hampshire State

**Commented [2]:** Editor's Note: Throughout this article, references to the Code Enforcement Department were amended to the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department 10-15-2013.



Police, with any fees for the same to be paid by the applicant. Any conviction for violation of the laws of the State of New Hampshire, or any other state, may be cause for denial by the Licensing Board.

**[Amended 8-1-2000]**

- B. Insurance. Before any permit is issued, the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department shall ensure that the applicant has provided a certificate of insurance for each permitted taxi for the full time period of the permit. The personal injury coverage shall not be less than one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.) for injury to one person with a total coverage of not less than three hundred thousand dollars (\$300,000.) for each accident. The property damage coverage shall be not less than fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.) per occurrence. It shall further be the responsibility of any insurance company or agent to notify the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department 10 days prior to any cancellation of any such policy. **[Amended 9-4-2007]**
- C. Appeal of denial. When any such application is denied by the Licensing Board, the applicant may request such denial be reviewed by the City Council. Any such request for review shall be made to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department. The City Council may issue or deny the permit.
- D. Transfer prohibited. No taxicab operator permit may be transferred from one operator to another. Any operator who voluntarily discontinues doing business shall surrender his/her permit to the City of Rochester within 10 days of the time he/she discontinues operation.
- E. Display of permit certificate. It shall be the duty of operators of taxicabs to display their permit certificates in a conspicuous place within their place of business headquarters or have them readily available for inspection upon demand by authorized municipal officials at all times.
- F. Taxicab records. All taxicab operators and drivers shall keep such records of trips, fares, and destinations as may be required for examination by the Chief of Police and/or the Licensing Board; such records shall be kept for a period of six months.

**§ 254-47 Taxicab permit and fee.**

Every person engaged in the business of operating taxicabs, automobiles, or other vehicles for hire shall make application to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department for taxicab permits on forms provided by the City of Rochester for this purpose. The fee for such permits shall be thirty dollars (\$30.) for each vehicle which shall be paid at the time the application is made and on or before January 1 of each calendar year thereafter.

- A. Issuance of taxicab permits. Before any new taxicab permits are issued, the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department shall refer all applications to the Chief of Police who shall inspect the condition of the vehicles proposed for permit and approve or disapprove the issuance of permits within 48 hours, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays excluded. Vehicles not meeting the inspection requirements of the State of New Hampshire may be denied permits.
- (1) Issuance of temporary taxicab permit. Above requirements for a replacement vehicle may be waived only at the discretion of the Police Chief or his/her designee, with proper insurance binder, until such time as a proper permit may be issued within the prescribed 48 hours.
- B. Appeal of denial. When any such application is denied by the Chief of Police or the Director of the

Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department, the applicant may request such denial be reviewed by the Licensing Board. A request for review shall be made to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall convene the Licensing Board within 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, at which time the Licensing Board shall either issue or deny the permit.

- C. Transfer of permits. Taxicab permits may be transferred from one vehicle to another by making an application for such transfer in the same manner as is required for original permits and making payment of five dollars (\$5.) to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department at the time of making an application for such transfer, together with proper forms as provided by the Licensing Board.

**§ 254-48 Taxicab driver's license and fee.**

Every person engaged in the driving of taxicabs, automobiles, or other vehicles for hire for the purpose of transporting persons shall have attained the age of 18 years, hold a valid New Hampshire operator's license, and shall make application to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department for a taxicab driver's license on forms provided by the City for this purpose. The fee for such license shall be ten dollars (\$10.) which shall be paid by the applicant at the time of making application and on or before January 1 of each calendar year thereafter.

- A. Issuance of taxicab driver's license. Before any taxicab driver's license is issued, the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department shall refer all applications to the Chief of Police who shall conduct an investigation of the applicant, including, but not necessarily limited to, a criminal history records check to be conducted by the New Hampshire State Police, with any fees for the same to be paid by the applicant. The Chief of Police shall approve or disapprove the issuance of such license within 72 hours, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays excluded, of the receipt of the results of such investigation. Any conviction for violation of the laws of the State of New Hampshire, or any other state, may be cause for denial. **[Amended 8-1-2000]**
- B. Appeal of denial. When any such application is denied by the Chief of Police or the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department, the applicant may request such denial be reviewed by the Licensing Board. All such requests for review shall be made to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall within 48 hours, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays excluded, convene the Licensing Board. The Licensing Board shall either issue or deny the license.
- C. Identification. It shall be the responsibility of all taxicab drivers to display their taxicab driver's license in a conspicuous place within any taxicab being operated by them. It shall further be their responsibility, upon request of any passenger, to furnish their names.

**§ 254-49 General requirements.**

- A. Condition of taxicabs. It shall be the responsibility of all taxicab operators to ensure that all taxicabs shall be kept in a safe and sanitary operating condition at all times and shall at all times qualify with the standards for inspection of motor vehicles by the laws of the State of New Hampshire. Any officer observing a violation of this subsection may obtain the taxicab permit of the vehicle involved which shall be temporarily suspended and returned forthwith upon said violation being properly corrected to the satisfaction of the Chief of Police or his/her designee.

- B. Periodic inspection. The Chief of Police or his/her designee shall inspect each taxicab operating in the City of Rochester at least every six months. The purpose of periodic inspection shall be for the maintenance of safety and sanitary conditions of the vehicles. **[Amended 9-4-2007]**
- C. Parking limited. No operator or driver shall park or allow to be parked any taxicabs upon any street in any business district at other than an authorized taxicab stand except when actually engaged in taking on or leaving passengers.
- D. Taxicab stands. The Licensing Board may establish taxicab stands on such public streets and in such places and in such numbers as shall be determined to be of greatest benefit and convenience to the public and businesses, and every such taxicab stand shall be designated by appropriate markings. **[Amended 3-5-2019]**
- E. Limitation on use. No operator or driver of any taxicab shall:
  - (1) Accept any other passenger without the consent of the person or persons who have engaged the cab.
  - (2) In any case pick up any adults when children under the age of 16 years are alone in the cab, unless said juvenile is seated adjacent to the driver. **[Amended 3-5-2019]**
- F. Passengers limited. The operators or drivers of taxicabs shall not carry more passengers in their taxicabs than the seating capacity as listed in the manufacturer's vehicle specification.
- G. Service to be given on demand. It shall be the duty of every taxicab driver or operator of an unengaged taxicab, upon request, during his/her regular business hours, to transport any orderly person between two points within the City of Rochester.
- H. Property left in taxicab. All property of reasonable value left in taxicabs shall be returned to the owner forthwith or, after a diligent attempt has been made to return said property to the owner, it shall be delivered over to the Police Department by the driver of the taxicab.
- I. Records. Records and other privileged information will be made available only to the Police Department and the Licensing Board.
- J. Complaints. Whenever there is a complaint over fare or otherwise that cannot be agreeably resolved to all parties, the complainant may register such a complaint in writing to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall convene the Licensing Board for the purpose of conducting a hearing. Upon sustaining the complaint, the Licensing Board may suspend or revoke such permits as may be required.
- K. Rates. All taxicab operators will have on file with the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department rates being charged and shall file new rates as they are changed before they are allowed to be in effect. Such rates shall be posted in a conspicuous place in each taxicab.
- L. Identification. All taxicabs shall be required to display outside identification.

**§ 254-50 Suspension or revocation of permit or license.**

- A. Whenever any operator shall be convicted in the Rochester District Court of a violation of any sections

of these rules and regulations, he/she shall forthwith return his/her operator's permit to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall retain such permit until application is made in the same manner as for an original permit, and a determination has been made by the Chief of Police and/or the Licensing Board as to the issuance of such permit.

- B. Any taxicab driver who shall be convicted of any violation of these rules and regulations, or of any law of the State of New Hampshire, shall forthwith return his/her taxicab driver's license to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall retain said license until such time as an application has been filed in the same manner as for an original taxicab driver's license and a determination as to its issuance or denial shall have been made by the Chief of Police and/or the Licensing Board. **[Amended 3-5-2019]**
- C. The Licensing Board may suspend or revoke any operator's permit, taxicab permit, or taxicab driver's license at any time for just cause. Upon receipt of notice of such suspension or revocation, the operator or driver may request a hearing before the Licensing Board. All such requests shall be made to the Director of the Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services Department who shall within 48 hours, Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays excluded, convene the Licensing Board. A decision by the Licensing Board shall be made within 48 hours after the hearing is completed.
- D. A majority decision of the Licensing Board may be appealed through the Strafford County Superior Court, and upon receiving such notice of action from the Court, said suspension or revocation will be held in abeyance pending results of said ruling.

**§ 254-51 Violations and penalties.**

Any person, firm or corporation violating any provisions of this article shall be guilty of a violation and fined not in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.); a separate offense shall be deemed committed upon each day, or part thereof, during or on which a violation occurs or continues.

## Article VIII Towing Services

**[Added 1-7-1997 (Ch. 67 of the 1995 Code)]**

**§ 254-52 Purpose and intent.**

**[Amended 10-3-2006]**

The purpose of this article is to establish a procedure for providing towing services to the City of Rochester. The intent is to have six individual towing services available 24 hours a day on a rotating basis.

**§ 254-53 Application procedure.**

Any business or individual desiring to provide towing services to the City of Rochester shall complete an application, which shall be available at the Rochester Police Department. Each interested applicant shall provide the information and/or documentation required to the Rochester Police Department along with a nonrefundable application fee of twenty-five dollars (\$25.).

**§ 254-54 Qualifications.**

The business or individual shall meet the following minimum qualifications:

- A. Be able to provide on-call service 24 hours per day, seven days per week.
- B. Be able to respond to any call within the City limits within 25 minutes of receiving a call.

- C. Be able to provide comprehensive general liability insurance with limits not less than five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.) per occurrence for property damage, subject to an annual aggregate limit of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.), with automobile liability insurance with limits of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.) per person and one million dollars (\$1,000,000.) per occurrence for property damage, subject to an aggregate limit of one million dollars (\$1,000,000.), with the City of Rochester named as an additional insured.
- D. Be able to provide workers' compensation insurance as required by New Hampshire statutes.
- E. Be able to provide all the necessary equipment to handle the normal problems that arise in removing vehicles from an accident scene with at least one of the vehicles being a slide back carrier.
- F. Be able to provide secure exterior and/or interior storage space within the City of Rochester for any towed vehicles.
- G. Have at least one year of experience in the towing business.

**§ 254-55 Approval process.**  
**[Amended 10-3-2006]**

All applications shall be reviewed by the Chief of Police or his/her designee. All applications determined to meet the minimum qualifications shall be placed in a pool of eligible applicants. Six applicants shall be selected by random lottery conducted by the City Licensing Board to provide towing services to the City.

**§ 254-56 Contract between City and towing service.**  
**[Amended 10-3-2006]**

The six applicants selected shall each enter into a two-year contract between the City, through its Licensing Board, and the individual towing service. The form and content of said contract shall be determined by the Licensing Board. Each towing service shall pay the City a fee of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.) for the contract rights covering the two-year period; two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.) shall be paid upon execution of the contract. Any vacancy occurring during the two-year contract period shall be left unfilled with the remaining towing services equally dividing the rotation schedule.

**§ 254-57 Services to be performed.**  
**[Amended 10-3-2006; 5-1-2007]**

During the contract term, the six vendors shall be on a rotating schedule and shall be referred all calls for towing which are due to accident and/or arrest which are police related. The City reserves the right to call any towing service designated by the owner/operator of a vehicle involved in an accident who requests the officer on the scene to call such towing service.

- A. The towing service shall also clean the road area and remove all glass and debris from an accident scene.
- B. The towing service shall provide free storage to all vehicles impounded by the police. Towing charges will be the responsibility of the owner of the impounded vehicle.
- C. The towing service shall, upon request of the City, tow any vehicles which have been abandoned as defined in RSA 262:32, which are obstructing access as defined in RSA 31:102 or which are in violation of private property restrictions as outlined in RSA 262:40-a. Towing and storage charges shall be as

provided by law. [Amended 3-5-2019]

- D. Emergency repairs and towing shall be provided without charge by the towing service to all Police Department vehicles. Any parts required shall be charged to the City at dealer cost.
- E. The towing service shall notify the City of Rochester of any change in its legal or storage site address at least 14 days prior to the effective date of such change.

**§ 254-58 Rate structure.**

All rates charged by the towing service may not exceed reasonable rates commonly charged in this area.

**§ 254-59 Administration.**

All issues relating to contractual matters relating to the towing service and the City shall be determined by the Chief of Police or his/her designee. Failure to maintain the above listed qualification requirements, repeated reports of failure for response to service calls, repeated lack of secure storage, or failing to provide the described services, shall cause an immediate review of the contract by the Chief of Police or his/her designee. A negative review shall be forward to the Licensing Board for further action. Any dispute or interpretation unable to be resolved between the Chief of Police and the towing service shall be referred to the City Licensing Board which shall make the final determination in any such matter.

Deletions are show as ~~strikethroughs~~ and Additions are in **red**

# Chapter 158

## ~~Parks,~~ Recreation and Arena **and Parks**

**[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester 6-6-1995 as Ch. 21 of the 1995 Code. Amendments noted where applicable.]**

### GENERAL REFERENCES

Peace and good order — See Ch. 167.

Public buildings — See Ch. 183.

### § 158-1 **Definitions.**

As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

#### **COMMISSION**

The Rochester Recreation and Arena Commission. See § 158-3.

**[Amended 3-5-2019]**

#### **DIRECTOR**

The Recreation and Arena Director. See § 158-4.

**[Amended 3-5-2019]**

#### **PARK**

Includes all parks, playgrounds, athletic fields, tennis courts, swimming pools, band shells, music pavilions, recreation areas, parking lots, and structures under the jurisdiction of the Director now owned or hereafter acquired by the City of Rochester for park or recreation purposes.

**[Amended 3-5-2019]**

#### **PERMIT**

Any written authorization issued ~~by or under the authority of the Director permitting specified park privileges~~ **to an applicant through the City's View Permit portal.**

### § 158-2 **Conduct prohibited in parks and Arena.**

- A. Disturbing the peace. No person shall disturb the peace at ~~the Arena or in any park~~ **any Department facility or park** by any act.
- B. Immorality and indecency. No person shall do any obscene or indecent act ~~at the Arena or~~ **any Department facility or in** any park; or display, expose or distribute any picture, banner, or other object suggestive of sex in a lewd, indecent, immoral way; ~~or enter a comfort station or toilet set apart for the use of the opposite sex;~~ nor shall any person dress or undress at ~~the Arena~~ **any Department facility** or in an any park except in dressing rooms provided for such persons.
- C. Solicitation. No person shall solicit money, subscriptions, or contributions for any purpose or attempt to

sell any wares of any nature whatsoever at ~~the Arena~~ **any Department facility** or in any park unless authorized by a permit ~~of the Director.~~ **issued through the City's View Permit portal.**

- D. Improper admission. No person shall gain improper admission to, or use of, or attempted admission to any ~~Arena~~ **Department** event or any park facility, for which a charge is made, without paying the fixed charge or price of admission.
- E. Disobeying authorities and signs. No person shall, at ~~the Arena~~ **any Department facility** or in any park, disobey a proper order of a police officer or an employee of the ~~Arena~~ **Department** or any ~~park~~ employee designated by the Director to give orders, nor shall any person in any park disobey, disregard or fail to comply with any rule or regulation, warning, prohibition, instruction or direction, posted or displayed by sign, notice, bulletin, card, poster, or when notified or informed as to its existence by an employee of the **Department** ~~Arena or park~~ or **City** employee(s) or other authorized person. **[Amended 3-5-2019]**
- F. Defacing park property. No person shall cut, break, injure, deface, or disturb any tree, shrub, plant, rock, building, cage, pen, monument, fence, bench or other structure, apparatus or property or pluck, pull up or out, take or remove any shrub, bush, plant or flower or mark or write upon any building, monument, fence, bench or other structure, or injure, deface or remove any property, real or personal, or any natural growth, structure, equipment, animals, signs or other park or ~~Arena~~ **Department** property.
- G. Setting of fires. No fires shall be set at the Arena or in any park except in areas where fires are designated as permitted or except as authorized by permit issued under the authority of the Director, **the Licensing Board and the Fire Department.**
- H. ~~Discharging in bodies of water. No person shall throw, cast, lay, drop or discharge into or leave in any body of water in any park, or in any storm sewer, or drain flowing into said waters, or in any gutter, sewer or basin, any substance, matter or thing, whatsoever.~~
- I. Waste matter. No person shall deposit, drop or leave any papers, bottles, debris or other waste matter or refuse of any kind in any park or part thereof except in such receptacles as may be provided for that purpose, nor shall any person urinate or defecate in or upon any part of the Arena or any park grounds.
- J. Drinking **and Illegal Drug Use**. No person shall enter ~~the Arena~~ **any Department facility** or any park in an intoxicated condition, nor shall any person drink any alcoholic beverages **or consume illegal drugs** of any kind or nature ~~at the Arena or~~ **within any Department facility or** in any park or on any park grounds, **including parking lots**; provided, however, that a temporary waiver from the prohibition **related to alcohol consumption** of this subsection may be granted to any Rochester-based nonprofit organization upon written application to, and approval by, the Licensing Board and the Rochester City **Manager** ~~Council~~, which application and approval shall specify the date and hours during which such waiver shall be effective. **[Amended 6-6-2006]**
- K. Dogs prohibited on the so-called Common. Dogs shall not be permitted within the confines of the municipal park known as the "Common," situate off South Main Street between Common Street and Grant Street. No person shall enter or remain upon said Common with a leashed dog, nor shall any person allow a dog to run at large within the confines of said Common at any time. **[Amended 5-7-2002; 3-5-2019]**



- L. Smoking on the Rochester Common. No person shall smoke on the portion of the so-called Rochester Common between northeasterly side of the path bisecting said Common, at the Civil War Memorial, and the northeasterly fence line surrounding said Common where it adjoins the South Main Street right-of-way, at any time. ~~; provided, however, that a temporary waiver from the prohibition of this subsection may be granted upon written application to, and approval by, the Licensing Board, which application and approval shall specify the date and hours during which such waiver shall be effective.~~ **[Amended 10-15-2013]**

**§ 158-3 Recreation and Arena Commission.**

- A. This Commission shall consist of 13 members to be nominated by the Mayor and elected by the Council, in accordance with the provisions of Section 74 of the Rochester City Charter, as follows: one member from the City Council, one member from the School Board, and 11 interested citizens. Up to two members of the Commission may be a nonresident of the City of Rochester, provided that at the time of election of such individual to the Commission such individual is associated with communities or organizations utilizing the Rochester Arena facilities or has other specialized skills related to the provision of recreational services. **[Added at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]**
- B. The terms of the City Council and School Board Commissioners shall be commensurate with their terms of service on their respective boards. Commencing January 2016, the 11 Commissioners shall be appointed for one-, two- and three-year terms as determined by the City Council. Thereafter, all appointments and reappointments shall be for a term of three years. The Mayor shall appoint the Chairperson and the Commission shall, from its own members, elect a Secretary and other necessary officers to serve for one year or until their successors are elected. **[Amended 9-4-2007]**
- C. The Commission shall:
- (1) Act as advisory body to the Director.
  - (2) Aid, assist, and advise the Director in formulating plans for maintaining, equipping, operating, and regulating the recreational facilities, related programs and ~~the Arena facility~~ **Department facilities** and advise the City ~~Manager Council~~ in establishing a fee schedule for the use thereof.
  - (3) Inform itself of ways and means by which its plans and programs for development and use of the **Department** recreational facilities and ~~Arena facility~~ may best be achieved and may advise the Director, the City Council, and public of the manner in which such objectives may best be accomplished.

**§ 158-4 Recreation and Arena Director.**

**[Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]**

The City Manager, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 15 and 18 of the Rochester City Charter, shall appoint the Recreation and Arena Director for the City of Rochester, who shall be the department head of the Rochester Recreation and Arena Department. The Director shall be responsible for the direction of all phases of the City's recreation programs and parks owned or controlled by the City subject to the supervision of the City Manager. The Director shall be responsible for hiring and supervising all personnel as may be required to carry out Recreation and Arena Department programs. The Director, with the consent of the Commission, shall have the power to promulgate reasonable written rules and regulations to govern the use of the City's parks and equipment and to issue permits **consistent with this Code** for the use thereof as set

forth in this chapter.

**§ 158-5 Use of ~~Arena~~ and parks.**

~~The Arena and~~ all City parks are open for the general use of the public and in particular of the residents of the City of Rochester, subject to the following exceptions:

- A. No person shall conduct, operate, present or manage, at **any Department facility/grounds** ~~the Arena~~ or in any park, a parade, drill, public meeting, ceremony, speech, public contest, exhibit, or performance of any kind without a permit.
- B. All organized **events**, picnics or outings **or gatherings** for a group larger than 25 persons shall require a previously obtained permit **through the City's View Permit portal**.
- C. No person shall exhibit, sell, or offer for sale, hire, or lease any object, service, or merchandise of any sort whatsoever except under a previously obtained permit to do so **through the City's View Permit portal**.
- D. All parks shall be open during the hours of 12:01 a.m. to 12:00 midnight every day unless signs specifying more restrictive opening hours shall be prominently posted around such park(s). Buildings or structures within said park(s) shall be open in accordance with signs posted on said buildings or structures by the Director specifying hours during which such buildings and/or structures shall be open to the public. **[Amended 6-5-2001]**
- ~~E. No person under 18 years of age and over six years of age shall loiter in any City park during normal school hours on any day in which the Rochester public schools are in session unless accompanied by a parent, guardian or other suitable person.~~

**§ 158-6 Appropriation; reports.**

The City Council shall annually appropriate such sum of money as the Council may determine for recreation and parks, such sum, together with any moneys received by the Department from charges, donations, or other sources, to be paid to the City Treasurer and by him/her placed in the credit of the Department, subject to its expenditures therefrom for the purposes as set forth herein. Annually, on or before the first day of the budget, the Director shall make a detailed report in writing to the City Manager of his/her acts and proceedings, of the condition of the facilities under his/her jurisdiction, of the standing of his/her recreation and parks program, and of his/her receipts and expenditures, together with an estimate of his/her anticipated revenues and expenditures for the following fiscal year. The Director shall make such other interim reports as from time to time may be requested by the City Manager.

**§ 158-7 Violations and penalties.**

**[Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]**

Any violation of this chapter or of the rules and regulations as provided for hereunder shall be considered to be a violation and subject to a penalty as provided in § 1-1 of this Code.

**Amendment to the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Creating Chapter 41,  
Disorderly Residence**

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS:

That the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and currently before the Rochester City Council, be amended to create Chapter 41, Disorderly Residence, as follows:

**Chapter 41: Disorderly Residence**

**§ 41-1 Purpose.**

**§ 41-2 Definitions.**

**§ 41-3 Documentation and classification of complaints.**

**§ 41-4 Notice and enforcement procedures; fines, violations and penalties.**

**§ 41-5 Legal action against owner for cost recovery; alternative enforcement actions.**

**§ 41-1 Purpose.**

This chapter is adopted in accordance with RSA 47:17, RSA 31:39, I (n), and RSA 644:2, and all other relevant statutory authority. It is hereby declared a valid public purpose of the City of Rochester that in order to promote and protect the health and general welfare of the City of Rochester, its residents and its neighborhoods, a process needs to be in place to properly and adequately control and manage chronic and unlawful nuisance and disorderly activities that might occur in the neighborhoods of the City. It is the public policy of the City to utilize this chapter to control and manage the disorderly activities and properties described below, and to appropriately assign financial liability for enforcement actions to the owners of the property where such activities occur in repeated fashion. There is an obligation on the part of the property owners to take all appropriate actions to reduce or eliminate these types of events from occurring. Ongoing disorderly events consume time and energies of the Police Department, thus reducing the amount of time that can be spent on more significant crimes and community affairs. While fines and enforcement actions may be necessary, this chapter is not adopted to create a mechanism to solely impose punitive punishments on the property owners; instead the goal of this chapter is create a dialogue with property owners and engage them in a process of eliminating these disorderly activities to the greatest degree possible.

**§ 41-2 Definitions.**

As used in this chapter the following terms shall have the meanings outlined below:

**DISORDERLY ACTIVITIES**

Situations created within or in the immediate vicinity of a building by a building's owner, occupants, or tenants, or the invitees of an owner, tenant or occupant, which would have a tendency to unreasonably disturb the community, the neighborhood or an ordinary individual occupying property in or near the disorderly activity, including but not limited to loud music; boisterous parties; excessively loud or unnecessary noises emanating from within or near the building which are audible outside the building; fights within the building, or in its vicinity, involving occupants of the building or their invitees; occupants of the

building or their invitees being intoxicated outdoors in the vicinity of the building; and other similar activities in the building or in the vicinity of the building.

### **DISORDERLY EVENT**

An activity to which the Police Department responds on the basis of a complaint and determines to be disorderly. Multiple responses to a single building that occur within a twelve-hour period may be deemed a single disorderly event at the discretion of the Police Department. The Police Department shall be the final arbiter on how events are classified and counted towards the enforcement procedures in this chapter. If the disorderly events occur at a multifamily property (more than two units) and the events are taking place at individual units on different dates and times, the Police Department, in consultation with the City Manager, shall determine how these events will be classified in reference to the notice and fine provisions of § 41-4 B through D below. The type and frequency of the events, and the degree of threat to public safety, will be factors in how the events are classified.

### **HABITUAL DISORDERLY RESIDENCE**

A residence which has been identified and classified by the Police Chief or a designee as being either the subject of eight or more police responses for any disorderly events in any twelve-month period; or the subject of 10 or more police responses for any disorderly events in any eighteen-month period.

### **OWNER**

The person or persons having the right of legal title to, or the beneficial interest in, a building or parcel of land, as their interest is recorded in the tax records of the City of Rochester. For the purpose of all notifications and related communications, the term "owner" shall also be defined as the landlord's agent, as provided to the City by the owner of the property subject to the provisions of RSA 540.

### **RESIDENCE**

Any type of residential unit or building, including but not limited to a single- or two-family dwelling, a multifamily dwelling unit, family apartment, boardinghouse, condominium, rooming house or unit, or leased units in a manufactured housing park (hereinafter jointly and severally "building"). The term "residence" also includes any property (yard, driveway or parking area, etc.) associated with the residence.

#### **§ 41-3 Documentation and classification of complaints.**

The Police Department shall document all responses to complaints of disorderly activities and classify each complaint as either substantiated or unsubstantiated.

#### **§ 41-4 Notice and enforcement procedures; fines, violations and penalties.**

##### **A.**

When the Police Department determines that the first incident at a property will be subject to the provisions of this chapter, it shall notify the owner of the property and provide a copy of this chapter. The owner may voluntarily contact the Police Chief and/or City Manager to schedule a meeting to

discuss the violation; if such a meeting is scheduled, the owner may, if he or she so chooses, present the City with a plan to take proactive steps to prevent future events.

**B.**

Whenever a residence has been visited by the police two times in any thirty-day period, in relation to incidents involving a disorderly event, the Police Chief, the City Manager, or any other agent designated by the City Manager (hereinafter referred to as the "City") shall send a notice to the owner. The owner shall be provided with a copy of this chapter and shall be informed that a fine of \$100 shall be imposed for the event. If the owner contacts the Police Chief and/or the City Manager and schedules a meeting, within 10 calendar days of the receipt of the notice, to discuss the events, and said owner satisfactorily outlines a mechanism to prevent future disorderly events, then the fine may be waived.

**C.**

Whenever a residence has been visited by the police for a third event in any sixty-day period, in relation to incidents involving a disorderly event, the Police Chief, the City Manager, or any other agent designated by the City Manager (hereinafter referred to as the "city") shall send a notice to the owner. The owner shall be subject to a fine of \$1,000. If the owner contacts the Police Chief and/or the City Manager and schedules a meeting, within 10 calendar days of the receipt of the notice, to discuss the events, and said owner satisfactorily outlines a plan to prevent future disorderly events, then the fine may be waived. The plan shall demonstrate that the owner agrees to take effective and immediate measures to prevent future disorderly events. The implementation of the plan shall begin within one week of the meeting. The plan shall be in writing and shall be signed and acknowledged by the City and the owner. The owner shall submit a report to the Police Chief and the City Manager, no later than three weeks after the meeting, reporting the steps taken to prevent future events. If the City determines that the plan is not being implemented in good faith, then the full fine of \$1,000 shall be reinstated.

**D.**

For any fourth disorderly event within any 60 days from the third event, or for any subsequent event within 180 days from the date of the first event, the Police Chief, the City Manager, or any other designated agent shall send a notice to the owner. The owner shall be subject to a fine of \$1,000 for the fourth event and for each subsequent event. The fine for the fourth event may be reduced or waived by the City Manager if the owner demonstrates a good-faith effort to prevent future disorderly events.

**E.**

The notices described above shall include a brief narrative outlining the circumstances of the disorderly events [date, time, and nature of the event(s)]. The notice shall be delivered to the owner or the appropriate representative by hand or by first-class mail. Service of such notice in the foregoing manner upon the owner's agent or upon the person responsible for the structure shall constitute service of notice upon the owner.

**F.**

At the time of any meeting between the owner and the City, the City may request documentation including but not limited to:

**(1)**

A copy of the names of all tenants or other persons authorized to reside or presently residing in the building and the units they occupy;

**(2)**

Management contracts with any building supervisor or other person responsible for the orderly operation of the building.

**G.**

Failure to meet with city officials or enter into such an agreement at the conclusion of said meeting will be deemed a violation of this chapter, and the city shall file a complaint in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking all compensatory and equitable relief permitted by law.

**H.**

If a residence that has been the subject of enforcement action under the provisions outlined above becomes subject to a second round of enforcement under this chapter, then the city is under no obligation to meet with the owner but may proceed directly with a complaint to a court of competent jurisdiction, seeking all compensatory and equitable relief permitted by law

**I.**

The provisions of Subsections **B** through **H** above notwithstanding, if a specific residence becomes identified as being a habitual disorderly residence by the Chief of Police or a designee, then the City is under no obligation to issue any notices or meet with the property owner. The City may, in these cases, issue a notice of violation and assess fines of \$1,000 for each event.

**§ 41-5 Legal action against owner for cost recovery; alternative enforcement actions.**

In addition to any notice or enforcement provision outlined above, the city may file a legal action against the owner seeking court costs, response charges, and all damages and remedies to which it is entitled pursuant to state and local laws. The City of Rochester also reserves the right to take any other enforcement action allowed by any other local ordinance or state statute as an alternative to this Disorderly Residence Ordinance.

**The effective date of these amendments shall be upon passage.**

Deletions are show as ~~strikethroughs~~ and Additions are in **red**

## Article II Outdoor Dining Establishments

### § 80-15 **Site plans required.**

Such requests shall include a dimensioned site plan of the existing conditions, including a depiction of public infrastructure such as curblines, light poles, bike racks, street trees, tree grates, manhole covers, meters, licensed A-frame signs, adjacent on-street parking and loading zones, adjacent accessible sidewalk curb cuts and the like. Such requests shall also include a dimensioned site plan depicting the proposed table/chair layout plan for outdoor dining, **lighting**, dimensioned routes of travel within the outdoor dining area and on the adjoining public sidewalk, as well as detail sheets for the proposed enclosure system, tables, chairs, lighting, trash receptacles, and the like. These plans will be reviewed by the Technical Review Group and suggestions forwarded to the City Manager. **Once Site Plans are approved, no changes shall be allowed without the approval of the City Manager.**

### § 80-26 **Site design standards for establishments with alcohol service.**

Outdoor dining establishments with alcohol service should meet the following site design standards:

- A. Outdoor dining establishments shall be separated from the public pedestrian space on the adjacent municipal sidewalk by an enclosure system ~~consisting of heavy-duty black decorative metal materials or equivalent~~ as approved by the City Manager or his/her designee; special attention shall be paid to the method used to support the enclosure system in order to avoid damage to public property and ensure public safety; the minimum height of the enclosure system shall be 30 inches and the maximum height shall be 36 inches, **measured from the lowest point of the public space being utilized.**
- B. Outdoor dining establishments shall not have live entertainment of any type located outside, and no visual entertainment shall be situated on the inside of the building in such a manner that it is directed toward patrons in the outdoor dining area.
- C. Seating shall be appurtenant and contiguous to a doorway accessing the main restaurant facility with service provided within the area approved by the City Manager. Exceptions to this provision will be allowed consistent with New Hampshire State Liquor Commission approval for particular licensees.
- D. The internal dimensions and table/chair layout of the outdoor dining area must allow for the passage of customers and wait staff and shall, in any event, meet ADA requirements.
- E. Outdoor dining establishments must provide a five-foot radius clearance from the center of restaurant doorways (exterior), and doorways shall be kept clear at all times and a five-foot minimum clear pedestrian path in front of restaurant doorways (exterior) shall be maintained at all times.
- F. The enclosure system, tables and chairs shall be movable/nonpermanent. **The applicant shall affix and maintain rubber tips to the legs of any table or chairs used on concrete, brick or granite surfaces. It is the applicant's responsibility to ensure that all movable items within the outdoor dining area are secured against wind or theft. The City accepts no liability for lost, stolen or damaged property.**

- G. In all areas where outdoor dining establishments are allowed the width for the pedestrianway adjacent to the area shall, at a minimum, be three feet and, in any event, meet ADA requirements, but will depend on site conditions. The pedestrianway in both instances shall allow for and provide clear unimpeded passage and access along the area. The pedestrianway shall be located entirely on the public sidewalk-~~property~~ and shall meet criteria that ensure pedestrian safety, usability and ADA compliance. In no event shall the area interfere with accessibility or public safety, including safe lines of sight for motor vehicles.
- H. Canopies over the outdoor dining areas shall not be allowed. ~~unless they are completely supported by hardware on the building structure, that is, there shall be no vertical supports in or around the outdoor dining.~~ Table umbrellas are allowed, but must not extend beyond the area. **No tents or covers shall be permitted over the outdoor dining space.**
- I. No object strictly related to advertising shall be allowed in the area.
- J. No improvements or personal property located within the area shall extend on or over any City property located outside the area.
- K. **Decorations must be fire retardant and meet NFPA 701 Standards. No decorations permitted except those approved on the site plan. No loosely hanging material.**

**§ 80-27 Rules and regulations.**

Outdoor dining establishments shall agree at all times to comply with all local laws, rules, regulations and orders, including but not limited to the following:

- A. The Health Department shall approve outdoor food service operations and cleaning operations, with the area to be left in a clean and sanitary condition at all times, and no outdoor garbage containers will be permitted. The area shall be left in clean condition at close of business with all garbage removed in its entirety from the area, and any ground debris swept up, at close of daily business. No food prep, grilling, **cooking, appliances, service windows, service counters, wait stations,** or bus buckets shall be allowed in the area and no condiments, paper products or the like shall be stored on the tables in the area. The Health Department shall review/approve that kitchen facilities are sufficient to support additional seating.
- B. The Director of Buildings, Zoning, and Licensing Services shall review/approve that bathroom facilities are sufficient to support outdoor dining seating. **Outdoor dining capacity must be in compliance with State law and the Food Code to ensure that each restaurant is approved for additional seating.**
- ~~C. Only decorative lighting shall be permitted.~~
- C. **The permittee is responsible for removing trash and regularly cleaning the areas being used for outdoor dining (including the areas where servers traverse between the restaurant and extended tables and chairs). Restaurant patron trash shall only be disposed of in the restaurant's commercial trash containers and not in the sidewalk trash receptacles.**
- D. A place of assembly inspection and updated place of assembly permit shall be required from the Fire Department, and the Fire Department shall review/approve means of egress as part of the Technical Review Group process.